IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HOWARD AULT,)
Appellant,))
VS.)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.))

CASE NO. SC07-2130

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court Of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit In and For Broward County, Florida [Criminal Division]

> CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit

Jeffrey L. Anderson Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407 Criminal Justice Building 421 3RD Street/6TH Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600 appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and appellee the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida.

The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal.

The symbol "T" will denote the Trial Transcript.

The symbol "SR" will denote the Supplemental Record.

SUMMARY OF THE CASE

On November 20, 1996, Appellant Howard Steven Ault was charged by indictment with two counts of first degree murder, two counts of kidnapping, and two counts of aggravated child abuse R14. He was found guilty on all counts after a jury trial R5-6. The trial court imposed the death penalty on both murder counts, life sentences of the sexual battery counts, and sentences of a term of years on the other counts.

Mr. Ault appealed his convictions and sentences. This Court affirmed his convictions vacated his death sentences and remanded for resentencing on the non-capital offenses R36.

A penalty phase commenced on July 30, 2007 R549. The jury recommended death for the two counts of murder by votes of 9-3 and 10-2 R584-85. On October 24, 2007, the trial court resentenced Mr. Ault to death R651-77. Mr. Ault timely filed his notice of appeal R692. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Nicole Geany testified she was seven years old in 1994 T746. Appellant was her neighbor T746. On March 14, 1994, Appellant exposed himself and ripped Geany's shorts off T747. Appellant touched Geany T747. Appellant was later arrested T748.

Tabatha Wasson testified she was eleven years old in 1995 T753. Wasson babysat Appellant's child T754. Appellant returned and placed Wasson on a bed T758. Appellant hit Wasson to stop her from screaming T758. Appellant pulled Wasson's shorts and underwear down and put his penis in her anus T759. Later Wasson asked Appellant why he did it T759. Appellant said when he saw her he had to have her T759. Appellant said what he did was wrong and told Wasson that she needed to tell someone what had happened T759, 765.

Michelle LeMay testified that in 1988 she was twelve years old T770. Appellant was at LeMay's house T772. LeMay went to bed T772. LeMay woke up to find Appellant on top of her T8772. Appellant got her panties off and touched her vagina and all over T773-75. Appellant was chased out of the house by LeMay's brother T774. Bryon Mattai testified on September 30, 1986, he was walking on the beach with a date T782.¹ Mattai say two figures T783. Appellant came at Mattai with a knife T784. The knife made contact with Mattai's shirt T784. Mattai suffered minor scrapes across his hands and shirt T787. Mattai identified himself as s police officer and threatened to shoot T784. Appellant ran when Mattai reached down like he had an ankle holster T785.

Donna Mae Jones testified she is the mother of Deanne Mumin and Alicea Jones T834. In November 1996 Deanne was eleven and Alicea was seven T834-35. One one occasion Appellant gave the girls a ride T840. Jones took the girls to school on November 4, 1996 T840. The girls never returned T841. Jones called police and went to Appellant's apartment and other places T842. Appellant indicated he had not seen the children T843.

Alvertis Johnson testified she is a community control officer who supervised Appellant while he was on community control from May to November of 1996 T849-51.² On November 4, 1996, Johnson went to Appellant's residence T856. Appellant was compliant all the time T859.

¹ Mattai did not appear at the penalty phase. Mattai's testimony from the 2000 penalty phase was read to the jury

² Johnson did not appear at the penalty phase. Johnson testimony from the 2000 penalty phase was read to the jury.

Dr. Lance Davis testified he was the medical examiner for Broward County T878. Davis performed the autopsy on Deanne Mumin T888. Deanne was eleven and 4'9" and 97 lbs. T907. Decomposition had started T907. Tissue was swelling and outer skin had fallen off T907. Deanne had been dead 2 1/2 days before Davis saw her at the scene in the attic T907. She was very swollen around the head area and there was bruising around the neck area T907. An internal examination showed trauma to the neck T908. There was hemorrhaging to the vaginal area T909. The cause of death was manual strangulation T910. There was no evidence Deanne was repeatedly strangled T918. She could have lost consciousness in less than 15 seconds T921. The head was opened and bruising could be seen T921. This bruising could occur after death as Deanne was moved to the attic T922.

Davis testified that Alicea Jones was 4'6" and 53 lbs T914. Decomposition was not as bad as Deanne T914. Alicea had lived for an additional 18 hours T914. Alicea was unconscious during that time T915. Alicea had a lot of foam around her mouth T915. There were marks on her neck T915. The cause of death was strangulation T917. The strangulation did not result in death immediately T915. The swelling on the brain took several hours before she died T915. Alicea was likely unconscious during that time T915.

William Rhodes testified that in 1996 he was a detective in Oakland Park T931. In November of 1996, Rhodes investigated the disappearance of Deanne and Alicea T932. Rhodes met with Appellant on November 5, 1996 T933. Appellant indicated he did not know where the girls were T934. On November 6, 1996, Rhodes again saw Appellant at the Broward County Jail T936. Appellant indicated the girls were dead T937. Appellant gave Rhodes consent to search his residence T987. Appellant and Rhodes went to Appellant's residence and the girls were found dead in his attic T942.

Appellant's taped statement to Rhodes was played to the jury T945.

In the statement Appellant said he met Donna Jones and her three kids on Monday, October 28, 1996 p.m. Easterlin Park. T956-957. He gave them his name and address and offered to let them come and cook. T958. He introduced his wife to her T958. He saw the girls 2 or 3 days later and gave them a ride in his truck. T959-60. He also helped Ms. Jones work on her car one day. T961. He first thought of having sex with the children when he gave them a ride in the car. T964-65. On Monday November 4, 1996 he left his apartment about 2:15 and picked up the children at about 2:30 p.m.T966. He told them that he was going to give them Halloween candy at his apartment T968.

The kids came in with him. T969. He began to have sex with the oldest child on the floor and she started to scream and fight T969. He penetrated her with his finger and briefly with his penis T971. He began to choke her to stop the noise T971. He covered her mouth with his left hand T971. He claimed he strangled her until she stopped breathing T972-73. He then went over and strangled the other girl T975. He put the older girl's clothes back on and then put them both in the attic T977. He then left and picked his wife up from work T978-79. Appellant was afraid something like this would happen T986.

Mr. Ault stated that after he was raped by his older brother, he began having sexually deviant thoughts T990. His brother began abusing him when he was 5 and it went on for several years T990. He never thought about killing anyone until the older girl was screaming in this incident. T992, 996. Appellant has had visions of abusing girls since he was seven T1004. Mr. Ault said he had been seeing a psychologist and had been in group therapy for over a year for his sex problems T1006. He still has visions of having sex with minors. T1006-07. Appellant is sorry for what he did T1009.

Rhodes testified that Appellant also said the thoughts of sexual abuse came into his mind but he could not stop himself T1020. Appellant felt remorse but could not stop himself T1024. Appellant reiterated his problem off the tape and stated that nothing eliminates the thoughts from his mind T1025.

Dr. David Kramer testified that he is a psychiatrist who examined Appellant T1044. Dr. Kramer also reviewed psychological exams, competency exams and correctional progress reports on Appellant T1044-45. Kramer also reviewed the testimony of Sherry Bourge-Carter and Dr. Eisenstein T1046. Appellant's parents had a very dysfunctional and rocky marriage with multiple separations and conflicts

T1047. When Appellant was fifteen his parents divorced T1047. When Appellant was six his thirteen year old brother began a pattern of forced sexual abuse on Appellant T1047. This included forced anal and oral sex T1047. At times Appellant was threatened with a weapon T1047. Appellant had a fear of dogs T1053. The brother would back him a closet and tell him a dog was waiting inside or outside waiting T1053. This was real trauma and not mere teasing T1053. Appellant's brother was sent to a residential treatment center T1047. The Appellant's mother was aware of the abuse T1048.

Dr. Kramer testified that when a person is traumatized by family members they develop anxiety believing, if a family member could abuse them, anyone could abuse them T1049. They also develop a core belief that there must be something wrong with them because this abuse doesn't happen to other people T1049. The result is depression and low self-esteem T1049. The abuse victim may link fear, intimidation with sexual arousal T1049. Dr. Kramer believes this is consistent with Appellant's situation T1056. When Appellant was 12 he began fondling his sisters while they were sleeping T1050. Appellant began to have sexual attractions to prepubescent females T1050. This was attributable to Appellant's experience of being molested and abused T1050.

Appellant suffers from pedophilia T1050. Pedophilia is an intense persistent arousal to inappropriate stimuli T1057. This can be an extremely powerful

compulsion T1051. A big part of Appellant's psychology is that he knew what he did was wrong but could not help himself T1051.Appellant suffered from post traumatic stress disorder T1051. This is a major mental illness T1052. Abused children will end up with psychiatric disorders such as bipolar or borderline or borderline T1052. Appellant exhibited signs of clinical depression T1054.

In 1996 Appellant was incarcerated and assessed to have significant psychiatric problems T1055. Appellant has been treated with antipsychotic medications T1053. Appellant had a compulsion to have sexual activity with age-inappropriate partners T1058. Even though Appellant knew it is against the law he would still do it due to post-traumatic stress disorder and pedophilia that developed from his early victimization T1059.

At the age of 12 Appellant fell and received a blow to the temple resulting in a loss of consciousness T1061. At the age of 14 Appellant was in a fight resulting the loss of consciousness T1061. At the age of 18 Appellant was in a car rollover causing a blow to the head T1061.

Dr. Kramer opined that at the time of the offense Appellant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance T1062-63. Appellant cannot control his desires to have sex with prepubescent females T1063. Appellant has received insufficient treatment for his problems T1065. Appellant dropped out of school in the eighth grade with a very checkered school history including learning

problems and behavioral difficulties T1067. People who have been sexually abused have problems inhibiting their behavior compared to the rest of the population T1068. They also tend to have antisocial conduct T1068. When Appellant was a teenager he was hospitalized for a suicide attempt T1071. In 2003 Appellant ingested 10, 000 milligrams of seroguel in a suicide attempt and was taken to the intensive care unit in Jacksonville T1071. Appellant had two other suicide attempts T1071.

Dr. David Ross is a neurologist T1103. Dr. Ross examined Appellant and had a PET scan and a EEG done T1106. The EEG showed that Appellant had deficiencies in the frontal lobe and temporal lobe areas of his brain T1108. The PET scan showed reduced metabolism in the frontal and temporal cortices T1111. The frontal areas controls judgment and impulses T1112-1113. The temporal area controls emotions and memory T1112. People with pedophilia have the same pattern of brain waves as Appellant T1115. People can function with frontal lobe problems but under the right circumstances dysfunctions can occur T1115. Under the right circumstances compulsion can be triggered and can be stopped T1115. The brain does not go through the logical sequence of the consequences T1115.

Because of the temporal damage one's emotional controls may be wrong and one may be excited about something one should not be excited about T1116. Frontal lobe damage usually can lead to apathy and thus one doesn't have the proper controls T1117. The amount of control depends on the compulsion of obsession T1118. Appellant's brain abnormalities could have resulted from head trauma T1118.

Dr. Sherry Carter testified she is a clinical psychologist T1139. She interviewed Mr. Ault and reviewed records. T1146-1149. He was on Thorazine, an anti-psychotic, and Sinequan, an anti-depressant. T1150. Thorazine is normally prescribed for people who are delusional and not in touch with reality. T1150. Mr. Ault reported auditory hallucinations in the past. T1152-53. Dr. Carter stated that she was suspicious of this report. T1152-54. Dr. Carter gave Mr. Ault an IQ test and he scored 80 with a verbal IQ of 77 T1158. She also felt that Mr. Ault was malingering due to the results of certain psychological tests. T1162-70, 1176. She stated that her tests show:

....his ability to control his behavior, his ability to act in an appropriate socially acceptable way is extremely impaired. In fact, it is severely impaired.

T1173. She stated that he had a severe personality disorder, but did not have a major mental illness. T1176. She felt that he suffered from pedophilia, anti-social personality disorder, and malingering T1175-76. She testified that he was reporting hallucinations and multiple personalities. T1180-81.

Appellant indicated he had been sexually abused by his brother at the age of five when his brother pinned him down, took his pants down, and had anal sex with him T1183. The abuse would be repeated at home and during camping trips T1184. The abuse was once or twice a week and continued until Appellant was eight T1184. The abuse stopped for a couple of years but started again when Appellant was ten T1184. She did not know whether the allegations that Mr. Ault was sexually abused by his brother are true or not. T1186. She did not feel that he met the criteria for the two statutory mental mitigators. T1189.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The undisputed, unrefuted objective evidence showed Appellant suffered brain damage to the temporal and frontal lobes. These areas control judgment and impulses. It was reversible error to reject brain damage as mitigating evidence in deciding whether Appellant should spend his life in prison or whether he should be put to death.

2. When deciding whether one should spend their life in prison, or whether one should be put to death, good adjustment to life in prison is an important mitigating circumstance. It was reversible error for the trial court to categorically reject this undisputed mitigating circumstance.

3. The trial court improperly consolidated 12 mitigating circumstances into a single mitigator. Many of the circumstances had independent significance. Improperly lumping the circumstances creates the danger that the trial court failed to recognized the independent significance of the mitigators and thus failed to give to substantial weight to the mitigation as it should have done.

After the improper consolidation, the trial court gave little weight to the mitigation. The trial court failed to give any explanation or reason for doing so. The mitigation was significant. The trial court abused its discretion under the circumstances of this case.

4. Mr. Ault had asked a victim to turn him in because what he did was wrong. Mr. Ault was reaching out for help to stop abusing young girls. His compulsion would not let him stop the abuse. This mitigation is important because it shows (1) humanity and more importantly shows that (2) Mr. Ault wanted his compulsive behavior to be stopped. The trial court gave it little weight as it showed a spark of humanity. However, the trial court refused to give Mr. Ault's reaching out for help any weight. This was the most important aspect of the mitigator presented. The trial court abused its discretion for failing to give Mr. Ault's reach for help any mitigating weight.

5. The trial court erred in rejecting the statutory mental mitigating circumstances. There was no substantial, competent evidence presented that rebutted the defense experts. Incorrect legal standards were used by a witness and the trial court to reject these mitigators. It was reversible error to reject these mental mitigators.

6. The trial court erred in failing to evaluate the nonstaturory mitigating circumstance of emotional or mental disturbance.

7. The trial court erred in rejecting Mr. Ault's low IQ as mitigation.

8. The trial court erred in rejecting Mr. Ault's cooperation and acceptance of responsibility as mitigation.

9. The trial court erred in rejecting Mr. Ault's remorse as mitigation.

10. It was undisputed that Appellant suffers from pedophilia. Appellant control over his pedophilia is impaired. But for Appellant's pedophilia the events involving the young girls would not have occurred. The trial court erred in rejecting this mitigation under the circumstance of this case.

11. Proportionality requires that the death penalty is reserved for only both the most aggravated and least mitigated of cases. This case is not one of the least mitigated. The death penalty is not proportionally warranted in this case.

12. The trial court erred in admitting irrelevant and prejudicial photos into evidence over Appellant's objections.

13. The trial court erred in giving great weight to the jury's recommendation.

14. The trial court denied Appellant's request for a presentence investigation (PSI) because there was nothing further it could learn about Appellant. Appellant did not participate in presenting mitigation and had moved to waive his entire penalty phase. It was reversible error to deny the request for a PSI.

15. The trial court erred in conducting a pretrial conference in Appellant's absence. The error was not harmless where damaging information about Appellant was being passed to the trial court in Appellant's absence.

16. Appellant was denied due process and a fair sentencing where he was sentenced by a biased judge.

17. The trial court erred in failing to respond to Appellant's request to represent himself.

18. Florida's death penalty which does not require: the findings under <u>Ring</u> <u>v. Arizona</u>, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002); the jury to be properly advised of their responsibility; a unanimous jury finding for death; a unanimous jury finding of aggravating circumstances; a finding beyond a reasonable doubt that aggravating circumstances outweigh mitigating circumstances violates the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REJECTING APPELLANT'S BRAIN DAMAGE AS A MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

The undisputed, objective evidence showed Appellant suffered brain damage.

Dr. Ross, a neurologist, testified that PET scan and EEG tests showed deficiencies to

the frontal lobe and temporal lobe areas of Appellant's brain T1108, 1111. The trial

court recognized this important evidence in its sentencing order:

The neurologist, Dr. Ross, concluded that the Defendant had problems affecting his brain. This doctor conducted two examinations on the Defendant, an electroencephalogram (EEG) test and a positions emission tomography (PET) scan.

Based on these tests, Dr. Ross concluded that the Defendant suffered **deficits** at several sites of his brain, mainly, the right **frontal area** and the **temporal lobes.** The frontal area is the analytical portion of the brain while the temporal lobes relate to the integration of memory and emotion. Dr. Ross concluded that the defendant has an **abnormal brain** and that studies have shown that people with pedophilia have these sorts of damage.

R659-60. (emphasis added).

However, the trial court rejected brain damage as a mitigating circumstance

because it had already rejected the statutory mental mitigation:

C. <u>The Defendant suffers from brain damage</u>.

Having already addressed this issue as a statutory mitigator, the court has no basis to consider this matter as a non-statutory mitigating circumstance.

R6605. The trial court erred in rejecting the unrefuted evidence of brain damage as mitigating evidence.

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