IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-2130

HOWARD STEVEN AULT

### APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

\_\_\_\_\_

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE (Addressed to Initial and Supplemental Initial Brief)

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

Even if the mitigator should have been found, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt for this double homicide with very weighty aggravation. <u>Lebron</u>, 982 So.2d at 661 (recognizing application of harmless error test when evaluating the erroneous mitigation finding). Whether Ault may adapt to prison does not tip the balance in favor of a life sentence. See State's harmless error analysis <u>Issues I and V</u>.

Should this Court find otherwise, the matter should be remanded to the sentencing judge alone for clarification of its ruling as the error alleged had no impact on the jury's recommendation. Such was done in Coday, 946 So.2d at 1003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The standard of review was announced in <u>Campbell</u>, wherein, this Court established that the relevant standard was: 1) whether a circumstance is truly mitigating in nature is a question of law and subject to *de novo* review; 2) whether a mitigator has been established is a question of fact and subject to the competent, substantial evidence test; and 3) the weight assigned to a mitigator is within the judge's discretion. <u>See</u> <u>Kearse</u>, 770 So.2d at 1134 (observing whether mitigator exists and weight assigned are matters within sentencing court's discretion); <u>Trease</u>, 768 So.2d at 1055 (receding in part from <u>Campbell</u> and holding an established mitigator may be assigned "little or no" weight).

### ISSUE III

# THERE WAS NO ERROR IN GROUPING MITIGATORS UNDER ONE HEADING AND GIVING IT LITTLE WEIGHT (restated)

Ault admits it is permissible for the court to group nonstatutory mitigators into categories, however, he maintains that here, unrelated mitigators were combined and too little weight was given the group. Contrary to Ault's position, the consolidated mitigators are reasonably related to his upbringing and there was no abuse of discretion in assigning little weight to the category of "raised in a dysfunctional family".

As this Court reasoned "proposed nonstatutory circumstances should generally be dealt with as categories of related conduct rather than as individual acts." Campbell, 571 So.2d at 419-20, n.4, receded from in part, Trease, 768 So.2d at 1055. See Rogers v. State, 783 So.2d 980, 995 (Fla. 2001); Kearse v. State, 770 So.2d 1119, 1133 (Fla. 2000) (finding no abuse of discretion in court's grouping of items 6 through 39 into single defendant's "difficult childhood of and his category psychological and emotional condition because of it"); Reaves v. State, 639 So.2d 1, 5 (Fla. 1994) (finding no error where court reasonably grouped several nonstatutory factors into three).

Here, the court consolidated 12 factors<sup>19</sup> into the non-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> (1) raised in dysfunctional family; (2) eighth grade education; (3) attempted suicide at fourteen years old; (5) parents were aware of sexual abuse, but did nothing; (6) Charles

statutory mitigating category of "raised in a dysfunctional family." Each of those factors related to his childhood experiences created by or as a result of his upbringing such as the lack of parental supervision, control, or care for Ault. The family did not see that he remained in school, address his psychological condition, confront the alleged sexual abuse<sup>20</sup> Ault endured, secure proper medical/psychological treatment for Ault, or establish close family ties. All the factors relate to the conditions under which Ault was raised and treated during his formative years. They are reasonably related to each other and tend to show a dysfunctional family upbringing.

The weight assigned a mitigator or a category of factors lies within the court's sound discretion. "Because trial courts are in the best position to observe the unique circumstances of a case, they have broad discretion in their decisions as to how much weight to assign to a particular mitigator." <u>Boyd v. State</u>,

<sup>20</sup> However, according to Dr. Carter, she could not corroborate the allegation that Charles sexually abused Ault. In fact, Charles was not living at home during one period Ault alleged he was assaulted, and on other occasions, Ault even asked to live with his brother. (R.13 1184-86).

Ault used gun to force sexual relations with Ault (7) as child Ault suffered head injuries which were not treated properly; (8) raised in unstable environment - constantly moving to new schools (9) school reports show poor academic performance, learning disabilities, and behavioral problems; (11) not nurtured as child; (12) raised without strong family bonds; and (13) did not receive counseling as child for behavior, traumatic events, or academic development (R.4 662-63).

910 So.2d 167, 193 (Fla. 2005). <u>See Alston v. State</u>, 723 So.2d 148, 162 (Fla. 1998); <u>Cole v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 845, 852 (Fla. 1997). Under the abuse of discretion standard, a court's ruling will be upheld unless it is "arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable." <u>Trease</u>, 768 So.2d at 1053 n. 2 (quoting <u>Huff v.</u> State, 569 So.2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990)).

Ault cites to <u>Sinclair v. State</u>, 657 So.2d 1138 (Fla. 1985) and <u>Ferrell v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 367 (Fla. 1995) to suggest the sentencing court must set forth its reasons for the weight assignment. Such is not the state of the law. What is required is that the court set forth its mitigation findings and announce the weight it assigns to those factors found. <u>Campbell</u>; <u>Trease</u>. Ault also references <u>Riley v. Wainwright</u>, 517 So.2d 656 (Fla. 1987) and <u>Thompson v. Dugger</u>, 515 So.2d 173 (Fla. 1987) to suggest a court may not refuse to weigh mitigation. However, in <u>Trease</u>, this Court permitted the court to assign no weight to mitigation even if it were found proven.

Here, much of what was presented in this category was based on inconsistent, contradictory, self-reports by Ault who was known to be malingering. As such, the weight was properly diminished and no abuse of discretion has been shown. However, even if this mitigator should have been divided into more categories and assigned more weight, any alleged error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Singleton v. State, 783

So.2d 970, 977 (Fla. 2001) (finding failure to discuss offered mitigation was harmless as aggravation outweighed the overlooked mitigation). When the offered mitigation is considered against this double homicide with very weighty aggravation, this Court should find the sentencing would not be different. <u>Lebron</u>, 982 So.2d at 661. See harmless error analysis in <u>Issues I and V</u>.

### ISSUE IV

# THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN WEIGHT ASSIGNED MITIGATION AULT TOLD CHILD VICTIM TO CALL POLICE AND THAT WHAT HE DID WAS WRONG (restated)

Here, Ault takes issue with the weight assigned the mitigation that he told his 1996 attempted sexual battery victim that what he did to her was wrong and she should call the police. The court credited Ault for this statement and gave it some weight, while noting it showed some "spark of humanity" and possibly "reaching out for help" even though the homicides of DM and AJ were the result of [Ault's] knowing, intentional, and morbidly logical analysis of his predicament, and not the compulsion of pedophilia." The court's findings are supported by substantial, competent evidence and the weight assigned is not an abuse of discretion.<sup>21</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The weight assigned mitigator will be sustained "absent an abuse of discretion and when the evidence supports the conclusions." <u>Boyd</u>, 910 So.2d at 193. <u>See Alston</u>, 723 So.2d at 162 (finding where sentencing order identified mitigators, weight assigned was within court's discretion). Under the abuse

The record shows Ault told his eleven year old victim, TW, that his attempted sexual battery<sup>22</sup> upon her was wrong and she should tell someone. The court found this showed some humanity and possibly a reaching out for help. (R.4 668). However, the record shows Ault chose DM and AJ for their ease of capture and coldly, logically assessed killing both girls after one threatened to turn him in for her rape, a fate Ault wanted to avoid, and the other witnessed the first killing. (R.12 907-11, 916-17, 964-75; R.13 1189-91). The court gave the mitigator some weight. It cannot be said that no reasonable person would have assigned this weight.

Ault challenges the court's analysis, because allegedly the court failed to find Ault was reaching out for help. Ault cites the rejection of pedophilia<sup>23</sup> as mitigation as proof of the

of discretion standard, the ruling will be upheld unless it "is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable." Trease.

<sup>22</sup> TW testified she met Ault at a store where he asked her if she would like to baby sit for his five-month old child and she agreed. The day she baby sat for Ault, he picked her up, took her to his room, and pushed down on her neck when she started to scream. Ault pushed TW down, and hit her in the head a couple of time to make her be quiet. When she quieted, he ripped off her shorts and underwear and sodomized her. When the Ault's baby started crying, he stopped his attack on TW and she rolled away from him. He then told her that what he did was wrong and she should tell someone. (R.11 753-55, 757-59).

<sup>23</sup> Dr. Ross admitted the brain injury he reported, and oft seen in the brains of pedophiles, did not cause Ault to kill (R.13 1108-13, 1124, 1126). Also, Dr. Carter noted Ault had the mental illness of pedophilia, but it was not a major mental

court's rejection. Ault reads too much into the finding. The court acknowledged both statements (what he did was wrong and to call the police), and that this showed a spark of humanity, thus, proving mitigation. The court noted "some would argue ... [this was] a reaching out for help" (R.4 668), yet, other factors of the crime were also true, thus, the mitigator was assigned some weight. Given this, there is a reasoned basis for the weight assignment. Furthermore, even if additional weight were assigned, the resulting sentence would be no different. Lebron, 982 So.2d at 661. See the harmless error analysis in **Issues I and V**. The sentence should be affirmed.

#### ISSUE VI

# AULT FAILED TO REQUEST HIS CLAIM OF EXTREME MENTAL/EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE BE CONSIDERED UNDER NON-STATUTORY BASIS (restated)

Ault points to <u>Cheshire v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 704 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1997) to suggest the court erred in not addressing mental/emotional disturbance as a non-statutory mitigator. (IB 37). This matter is unpreserved for appeal. Further, there was no error, much less fundamental error, as Ault failed to ask the Court to consider the factor as a non-statutory mitigator.

illness and it did not cause him to commit the crimes. In fact, Ault was methodical in his thought process and decision to select his victims then eliminate them as witnesses. Dr. Carter agreed Ault knew what he was doing. There was never a time when he was out of touch with reality.

For an issue to be cognizable on appeal, it must be specific contention asserted below. <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (holding except for fundamental error, an issue will not be considered on appeal unless it was presented to lower court; to be cognizable, "it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below"). Ault did not offer this factor as non-statutory mitigation (R.4 603-05), thus, he may not complain now. Davis v. State, 2 So.3d 952, 962-63 (Fla. 2008).

In Davis, the defendant identified statutory mental health mitigation he wanted considered, but he did not ask that those factors be considered on a non-statutory basis. Davis, 2 So.3d at 962-63. Rejecting error, this Court relied upon Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18, 23-24 (Fla. 1990) as requiring that "a defendant must raise a proposed nonstatutory mitigating circumstance before the trial court in order to challenge on appeal the trial court's decision about that nonstatutory mitigating factor." Davis, 2 So.3d at 962-63. "[A] defendant may not manufacture a sentencing error by not requesting that the trial court specifically consider unproven statutory mitigating factors as potential nonstatutory mitigating factors." Id. See Israel v. State, 837 So.2d 381, 391-92 (Fla. 2002) (finding no error in not addressing non-statutory mitigation which defendant had not identified).

Neither <u>Cheshire</u> nor <u>Jackson</u> recedes from the requirement that the defense set forth the non-statutory mitigation to be considered. Instead, these cases recognize that the statutory mental health mitigation may be offered under a non-statutory basis, and if offered, only then must they be considered by the sentencer. A rejection of the statutory mitigator does not automatically establish rejection of the non-statutory factor.

As noted above, Ault did not include the non-statutory level of the mental/emotional disturbance mitigator in his sentencing memorandum. Hence, he did not put the court on wanted this claimed statutory mitigation notice that he considered on a non-statutory basis, i.e. under a "non-extreme" basis. Moreover, for the reasons the statutory mitigation was rejected, which do not go to the "extreme" qualifier, such support rejection of the non-statutory factor. These findings include the complete rejection of Dr. Kramer and the fact that Dr. Ross offered no opinion as to whether Ault met either statutory mental mitigator. In fact the record shows Dr. Ross offered no opinion on mental/emotional disturbance at all. (R.4 661-62). See Reynolds v. State, 934 So.2d 1128, 1159 (Fla. 2006) (affirming sentence where court failed to address remorse as possible mitigator, but record established remorse was not supported by evidence). However, even if such mitigation were offered and found, the result of the sentencing would not have

been different under the circumstances of this case. See the analysis and harmless error argument of <u>Issues I and V</u>. This Court should affirm.

# ISSUE VII

### COURT PROPERLY REJECTED IQ AS MITIGATION (restated)

Ault points to Dr. Carter's testimony as supporting mitigation.<sup>24</sup> Contrary to his position, Ault's 80 IQ is within the low average to borderline range. As such the court's rejection is supported by substantial, competent evidence and the death sentence should be affirmed.

Neither Drs. Ross nor Kramer offered information on Ault's IQ. Dr. Carter tested Ault's IQ and found he had a full scale score of 80, a performance IQ score of 87, and a verbal score of 77. These results establish Ault as having a low average to borderline IQ. Dr. Carter qualified these scores noting that there are no validity sub-tests in the IQ test as there are in the MMPI evaluation to determining if the subject is malingering. This Court will recall Ault, a psychopathantisocial personality, was found to be malingering on his other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The standard of review was announced in <u>Campbell</u>, wherein, this Court established ... 1) whether a circumstance is truly mitigating in nature is a question of law and subject to *de novo* review; 2) whether a mitigator has been established is a question of fact and subject to the competent, substantial evidence test; and 3) the weight assigned to a mitigator is within the judge's discretion. <u>See Trease</u>, 768 So.2d at 1055 (holding a court may afford mitigator no weight).

tests. (R.13 1154-64).

In addressing this offered mitigation, the court reasoned:

The Defendant has a low I.Q. (paragraph 10)

There is no evidence supporting this statement. In fact, the only testimony regarding the Defendant's I.Q. was that of Dr. Bourge-Carter who indicated the Defendant's intellectual functioning to be low average.

(R.4 665). Dr. Carter supports the court's determination this mitigation was not established. This Court should affirm.

Even if the mitigator should have been found, the failure is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt for this double homicide. <u>See Lebron</u>. Whether Ault, was found to have a low IQ does not tip the balance in favor of a life sentence especially where there is weighty aggravation as discussed in the harmless error analysis of **Issues I and V** and incorporated here.

### ISSUE VIII

# THE RECORD SUPPORTS REJECTION OF MITIGATOR OF AULT'S ACCEPTANCE OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR MURDERS (restated)

Here, error is asserted by Ault regarding the rejection of the consolidated mitigator, "accepted responsibility for the killing of" DM and AJ. Contrary to his position, the record supports the finding that the mitigator was not established.<sup>25</sup>

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